
ADDENDUM #1 

INVITATION FOR BIDS 

No. 2014- 006 

Effective: July 14, 2014 

Project: Citywide Custodial Cleaning Services 

Issued By: Sunil Prithviraj, Capital Projects 
Manager City of Gaithersburg 
Department of Public Works 
800 Rabbitt Road 
Gaithersburg, Maryland 20878 

The following are the City’s answers to Bidders/Offerors questions for the above referenced 
solicitation: 

Q1.   Olde Towne Parking Garage: Page 55, item Q.F specifies annual winter clean-up and 
pressure washing of parking decks. Please specify if “parking decks” includes all 
parking spaces or if only certain specific areas require pressure washing? 

   A:      Work scope has been revised as follows; contractor shall clean all spaces in all parking 
decks to remove salt residues accumulated during snow season, contractor may adopt 
following cleaning methods as suited, water pressure washing or power sweeper 
method, contractor shall take necessary safety precautions to protect vehicles parking 
during the cleaning services, contractor shall be responsible for all damages caused due 
to lack of planning or negligence. Contractor shall coordinate and schedule this annual 
cleaning with City’s cleaning contract administrator.  

Q2.   Section 1: Definitions, item H states: “Lowest Responsive and Responsible Bidder” 
means the Responsible Bidder who submits a Responsive Bid Proposal and offers the 
most advantageous pricing or cost benefit.  Since “most advantageous pricing” (i.e., 
lowest cost) and “most advantageous cost benefit” (i.e., perhaps not the lowest cost 
but perhaps with other benefits that significantly outweigh the cost difference) are 
not necessarily the same thing, how will decide to whom to award the contract if one 
contractor offers the “most advantageous pricing” and another contractor offers the 
“most advantageous cost benefit”? 
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  A:      “Lowest Responsive and Responsible Bidder” means the Responsible Bidder who submits 
a Responsive Bid Proposal and offers the most advantageous pricing and/or cost 
benefit, as determined at the sole discretion of the City. 

Q3.   Column C of price proposal sheet:  Is the “Proposed Number of Staff” the number of 
bodies, regardless of whether an individual works 15 minutes or several hours?  In 
other words, if the proposed staffing for a building is 8 hours, that might be 2 
persons working 4 hours each, or 32 persons working 15 minutes each.  Hence if the 
staffing is 2 persons working 4 hours each, would 2 be entered?  And if the staffing is 
32 persons working 15 minutes each, would 32 be entered? 

 A:     Contractor shall conform to the Bid proposal price sheet, some of the columns included in 
this sheet will used for evaluation purposes. Refer to Amendment#2 for the revised sheet. 

Q4.  Column D of price proposal sheet:  Is “Proposed Cleaning hours” the number of hours 
per year to clean each building? 

A:     Bid proposal price sheet has been revised, refer to Amendment#2 

Q5.  Column E of price proposal sheet, please confirm that the “Hourly Cleaning Cost 
($/Hr.)” should include all payroll taxes and insurance, employee benefits, overhead, 
profit, etc.? 

A. Hourly cleaning cost shall include all overhead costs. 

Q6.  For the first four items on the price sheet, please explain the relationship among the 
3 columns of input.  For example, if the price per square foot for carpet cleaning 
(item 1) were $.25 per square foot, and if the total hours proposed to clean 800 
square feet of carpet were 10 hours, what should be entered in the “Total Cost ($)” 
column? 

A. Refer Amendment#2for the revised Bid proposal price sheet, even though relationship is 
redundant, this information will used for elevation purposes. 

Q7.   For the emergency cleaning response items in price proposal sheet, the hours shown 
for “after hours” and “normal business hours” conflict.  For example, the time on 
Saturday between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM are included both for “after hours” and 
“normal business hours.”  Please resolve the time conflicts. 

A. Refer to Amendment #2 for the revised Bid proposal price sheet, City may request 
emergency cleaning services outside of normal cleaning schedule for each facility, since 
each facility has specific cleaning schedules, if the emergency cleaning services are 
needed of that facility outside of the pre-scheduled cleaning hours, how this services will 
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be charged to the City.  City would like to get clarification from the bidder, whether these 
services will be provided at regular hourly cost or at other cost.   

Q8.   What is the current contract amount? 

A.     The existing contract amount is approximately $385,000 per year; this cost is irrelevant 
to solicited proposal, existing contracted work scope is different from work scope defined 
in this solicitation document.  

Q9.   Do you have a list of supply usage? 

A.     An estimated building occupancy has been provided as an attachment to this Addendum 
for bidders to estimate the supply usage. 

Q10.  At Comfort station and pavilions at Bohrer Park and City Hall, What is the service 
schedule before the Memorial Day and after the Labor Day? 

A.    Comfort stations and pavilions will be closed after the season, no cleaning services are 
need. 

Q11.   At Water Park at Bohrer Park, Do you only require to submit a price for 100days of 
service? 

A.     Refer to the work scope and schedules defined in the solicitation documents, water park 
administrative office (approximately 1000 Sq. Ft. with one bathroom) is opened year 
around, cleaning services will be needed Monday-Friday.  

Q12. In regard of IFB Number 2014-006, Citywide Custodial Cleaning Services with 
closing date July 17, 2014 at 11:00 am I understand all supplies and material will be 
provide by the contractor. Except were specified. Since Hand Sanitizer is an 
expensive item. How many Hand Sanitation stations are in each location? Or, it will 
continue being provided by the City? 

A.    Contractor is responsible for refilling approximately thirty nine (39)  city installed  
existing hand sanitizers, refills specifications are as follows;  Purell 2256, NDC 21749-
700-20, 2L  67 FL OZ.   

Q13. When is the anticipated starting date of the contract? 

A. The anticipated starting date for the new contract is October 1st, 2014. 

Q14. Please confirm that the initial term of contract / base period will last until June 30, 
2017? 

A.     Yes, refer to solicitation document for the contract duration. 
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Q15. In the Bid Proposal Price Sheet, for the base bid, do we provide yearly (12 months) 
price for each building? or monthly price? 

A. Refer to Amendment#2for the revised Bid proposal price sheet. 

Q16. Who is the current contractor? 

A. United States Services Inc. (USSI) 

Q17. What is the original contract price? 

A. Refer to response provided to question#8 

Q18. What is the original contract term? 

A. This question unclear and is irrelevant to this solicitation; existing cleaning services 
contract is 3 year initial term with 3 annual renewal options.  

Q19. Is the scope of service in this contract the same as the current contract? 

A. The scope of services is not the same as existing cleaning contract. It is significantly 
different. 

Q20. Should we submit two (2) original copies? 

A. Yes, two (2) original copies are needed; refer to bid submission instructions in the 
solicitation documents. 

Q21. Is there a wage determination for this project? Should we follow Montgomery 
County living wage or the City of Gaithersburg has its own? 

A:    Living Wage requirements are only applicable to the City when the project under the 
procurement is grant funded.  This solicitation is not grant funded; therefore, the living 
wage requirement does not apply. 
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Attachment 
Facilities Occupancy Count 

Number Facility Name Occupancy per day 

1 City Hall 120 

2 Police Station 35 

3 Department Public Works 25 staff during regular office 
hours and,  
80 during 7am-7:30am and 
2:30pm-3:00pm 

4 B&O Train Station 60 during morning and evening 
rush hours 

5 Rolling Stock Caboose and Budd 
car 

20 
No bathrooms 

6 B&O Train Museum 20 
No bathrooms 

7 Casey Community Center 255 

8 Comfort Station and Pavilions at 
Bohrer Park and City Hall 

150  
when programs are scheduled 

9 Gaithersburg Aquatic Center Supplies will be provided by the 
City 

10 Activity center at Bohrer Park 350 

11 Gaithersburg Arts Bran 50 

12 Water Park at Bohrer Park Supplies will be provided by the 
City 

13 Skate Park at Bohrer Park 30 
 No bathrooms 

13 Olde Towne Youth Center 75 

14 Robertson Park Youth Center 75 

15 Olde Towne Parking Garage No bathrooms 

16 Community Services office at 
Wells Robertson House 

8 

Note: Occupancy numbers are estimated, it is provided for estimating supplies 
only.   
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